IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC08-2271

RANDY SCHOENWETTER

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DIRECT APPEAL

JAMES L.DRISCOLL JR Florida Bar No. 0078840 Assistant CCRC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FLORIDA 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Schoenwetter's postconviction motion filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 and 3.850.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction

Mr. Schoenwetter pleaded guilty as charged on March 5, 2003. He proceeded to a penalty phase. After the penalty phase, the jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2 for the death Virginia Friskey and by a vote of 9-3 for the death of Ronald Friskey. After a *Spencer* hearing, the lower court imposed death sentences on both first degree murder charges. This Court affirmed on appeal. *Schoenwetter v. State*, 931 So.2d 857 (2006). After a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was denied, Mr. Schoenwetter sought postconviction relief in the circuit court. The circuit court denied relief. This appeal follows.

Mr. Schoenwetter's Arrest

Randy Lamar Ingram Schoenwetter was born on October 27, 1981. Shortly after he turned 18, law enforcement arrested Mr. Schoenwetter. The grand jury returned an indictment for two counts of first degree murder, one count of attempted murder, and one count of armed burglary.

The morning after the homicides in question, law enforcement was investigating the two homicides at issue. Mr. Schoenwetter walked up to the area where law enforcement was speaking with Mr. Schoenwetter's mother, Debbie Roberts. This was the last time that Ms. Roberts would see her son Randy as a free member of society.

Law enforcement took Mr. Schoenwetter to the police station where they interrogated him. The interrogation took place in a small room with a hidden camera. Mr. Schoenwetter confessed to the two murders and was booked into jail. A videotape of this interrogation was played during the penalty phase.

The court appointed the Office of the Public Defender. The Public Defender assigned George McCarthy and J. Randall Moore to represent Mr. Schoenwetter.

Mr. Schoenwetter's Letter and Plea of Guilty

On February 17, 2003, Mr. Schoenwetter wrote a letter to the trial judge admitting guilt under aggravated circumstances. (Vol. IV R. 705-06). The letter was stamped as received on February 25, 2003. (Vol. IV R. 705). The judge scheduled a status hearing for February 26, 2003, at which time he filed the letter. (Vol. II R. 220). At the hearing, Mr. Schoenwetter stated that he wanted to reject the advice of counsel and plead guilty. (Vol. II R. 222). At the plea hearing on March 5, 2003, defense counsel advised the court that Mr. Schoenwetter was competent to proceed. (Vol. II R. 228). Defense counsel next advised the court that Mr. Schoenwetter was entering the plea against the advice of counsel. (Vol. II R. 229). The trial court conducted a plea colloquy and accepted Mr. Schoenwetter's plea of guilty. (Vol. II R. 232-249). The court set the penalty phase for September 15, 2003. (Vol. II R. 264).

At trial, the State sought to admit transcripts of the February 26 status hearing, the March 5 plea hearing, and the letter Mr. Schoenwetter wrote to the Court. (Vol. XIII R.646-47). Defense counsel objected that the letter was not authenticated (Vol. XIII R. 681). The objection was overruled (Vol. XIII R.685). The State asked for a stipulation that Mr. Schoenwetter pleaded to each charge. The defense would not stipulate. The State asked to admit the transcript of the plea colloquy. (Vol. XIII R. 686-87). After discussion, defense counsel indicated they would stipulate that Mr. Schoenwetter pleaded guilty to all four counts (Vol. XIII R. 690).

Ms. Donnelly, the court reporter at the status hearing, authenticated the transcript of the hearing and quoted from the transcript to the jury (Vol. XIII R. 703-11). She relayed what the trial judge stated insofar as receiving a letter from Mr. Schoenwetter (Vol. XIII R. 705). During the February 26 hearing, Mr. Schoenwetter stated on the record that he wrote the letter "with my own hand." He also stated he was disregarding the advice of counsel and pleading guilty. He stated that the facts he wrote in the letter were true. (Vol. XIII R. 706).

When the State offered State Exhibit 77, a copy of the letter Mr. Schoenwetter wrote the trial court, defense counsel again objected that it was not authenticated (Vol. XIII R. 707). The lower court overruled the objection and took judicial notice

of the exhibit which was contained in the court file. (Vol. XIII R. 707). Defense counsel did not object to Ms. Donnelly saying she was present at the hearing on March 5, 2003, when Mr. Schoenwetter pleaded guilty (Vol. XIII R. 708). Defense counsel did not object to the court minutes order of the plea hearing being admitted as Exhibit 78. The trial court took judicial notice of the minutes. (Vol. XIII R. 709).

Aggravating and Mitigating Factors

The trial judge found four aggravating circumstances as to the murder of Ronald Friskey: (1) prior violent felony; (2) during a burglary; (3) avoid arrest; and (4) heinous, atrocious and cruel (Vol. V. R.800-04).

The trial judge found four aggravating circumstances as to the murder of Virginia Friskey: (1) prior violent felony; (2) during a burglary; (3) avoid arrest; and (4) victim less than 12 years old (Vol. V. R. 796-97).

The trial court found applicable to both murders four statutory mitigators: no prior criminal history,(little weight); extreme mental or emotional disturbance, (little weight); lack of capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law,(little weight); and the defendant's age (eighteen) at the time of the crime,(little weight). The trial court also considered and weighed eight of the nine nonstatutory mitigators argued by Mr. Schoenwetter and assigned various weights. (Vol. V

R. 806-18).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Schoenwetter to death. (Vol. V R. 818).

Direct Appeal

Mr. Schoenwetter appealed the death sentences to this Court. Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So.2d 857 (Fla. 2006). This Court affirmed the judgments of conviction and death sentences. Id. at. 877. This Court found that, under the totality of circumstances the death penalty was proportional to other death cases. Id. at 876.

Amicus Brief

This Court accepted an Amicus Brief filed by MAAP Services for Autism and Asperger's Spectrum, Dr. Fred Volkmar and Professor Anthony Bailey. The Amicus Brief detailed the nature of Asperger's Syndrome and how it affected Mr. Schoenwetter and his conduct at issue in this case.

The Amicus Brief detailed four relevant characteristics of Asperger's Syndrome:

A) Emotional and Developmental Immaturity: "Individuals with Asperger's often have an emotional and developmental age significantly lower than their chronological age or intelligence would suggest." (Amicus at 4). "This is true even though people with Asperger's often have normal to above average IQs." (Amicus at 4).

B) Lack of Social Judgment: Asperger's is also "associated with particular deficits in social judgment." This is due in large part to abnormalities in the parts of the brain that control "executive functions." The executive functions of the brain refer to:

a range of specific neuropsychological abilities, including . . . cognitive flexibility, inhibition of prepotent but irrelevant responses, adjustment of behavior using environmental feedback, extracting rules from experience, selection of essential from nonessential information, and upholding in one's mind both a desired goal and the various steps required to accomplish it

(Amicus at 5). (Internal citations to expert authorities omitted).

C) Lack of Empathy: In addition, individuals with Asperger's often lack empathy - - the capacity to place themselves in someone else's shoes and deduce the other person's emotional reaction. (Amicus at 6).

D) Poor Impulse Control: Although people with Asperger's are often able intellectually to describe emotions and the difference between right and wrong, researchers have found an inability to integrate this understanding into their behavior. (Amicus at 8). (Internal citations to authority omitted). Asperger's individuals have difficulty generating acceptable solutions to everyday problems, including sexual attraction or being caught doing something wrong, and often impulsively choose

an inferior solution when under stress. (Amicus at 8). (Internal citations to authority omitted).

The Amicus Brief then argued that:

This Court should reconsider its judgment on the diminished capacity defense in liqht of the significant medical evidence that individuals with organic conditions such as Asperger's may be able to articulate the difference between right and wrong sufficiently to be considered legally sane, while having abnormal mental processes that may make it unjust to attribute their actions to the sort of conscious, malevolent intent that is required for capital murder.

(Amicus at 11).

The Amicus Brief urged that "at a minimum, evidence of Asperger's must be given substantial weight in capital sentencing." (Amicus at 11-13). The brief based this argument on the close parallels between Asperger's Syndrome and mental retardation as addressed by the Supreme Court in Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). The brief argued that:

The similarity between the deficits in Asperger's and in mental retardation highlights the need to treat Asperger's as a substantial mitigating circumstance. It is highly doubtful whether either of the two recognized interests in imposing the death penalty - retribution and deterrence - - can be served by executing individuals whose wrongful acts are explained in part by Asperger's.

(Amicus at 12-13).

Based on the substantial weight that Asperger's should have received from the trial court, the Amicus Brief argued that the trial court did not give sufficient weight to Mr. Schoenwetter's

Asperger's Syndrome. (Amicus at 13-18).

The Amicus Brief argued that all of the experts called by the defense testified that Mr. Schoenwetter had Asperger's Syndrome. (Amicus at 13-14). Dr. Riebsame found that Mr. Schoenwetter had an "'abnormal brain pathology and temporal cortex metabolism that is frequently seen in psychiatric disorders, such as brain injuries, psychotic disorders, or autistic disorders' and that 'those particular parts of the brain are known to be directly related to decision making." (Amicus at 14; citing Vol. XIII R. 732-33). The Amicus Brief noted that Dr. Riebsame and Dr. Wu testified about the impulsivity that affects individuals with Mr. Schoenwetter's conditions. (Amicus at 14). The expert testimony at trial showed that Mr. Schoenwetter suffered from an impaired understanding of other people's feelings, and that his "developmental age was well behind his chronological age." (Amicus at 14-15).

The Amicus Brief detailed how the expert witnesses at trial "described a clear connection between Mr. Schoenwetter's mental condition and his behavior on the night of the murders." The Amicus Brief recounted that Dr. Riebsame "testified that [Mr.] Schoenwetter's Asperger's Syndrome was 'evident . . . when he entered the Friskey household.'" (Amicus at 15; *citing* Vol. XIII R. 738). In Dr. Riebsame's opinion, Mr. Schoenwetter was

"an individual with extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the offense." (Amicus at 15; *citing* Vol. XIII R. 764). The Amicus Brief also recounted that Dr. Prichard offered the expert opinion that Mr. Schoenwetter's actions were not "planned," "calculated" or "premeditated." (Amicus at 15; *citing* Vol. XIV R. 853-55). Indeed, these actions "were typical of 'straight line' behavior found in individuals with Asperger's: Once 'he started, he just kept going . . rather than thinking." (Amicus at 15; *citing* Vol. XIV R. 853-55).

The Amicus Brief argued that Mr. "Schoenwetter's Asperger's was directly relevant to at least three statutory mitigating circumstances: (1) the defendant's age; (2) that he was operating under extreme emotional and mental distress at the time of the crime; and (3) that he was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.'" (Amicus at 15-16).

The Amicus Brief argued that the trial court should have given Mr. Schoenwetter's emotional and developmental age weight as mitigation rather than apparently treating it as an aggravating factor. (Amicus at 16-17). The trial court dismissed this weighty mitigation because of the trial judge's own observation regarding Mr. Schoenwetter's IQ and purported maturity. This was incorrect because "[a]s the literature on Asperger's demonstrates. . . a high IQ and `articulateness' are

completely consistent with having a twelve year old's capacity to exercise judgment and control impulses." (Amicus at 17).

The Amicus Brief took issue with the trial court's giving little weight to the mitigating factor of extreme emotional or mental distress. (Amicus at 17). The brief argued that even though the law does not require any further specific nexus between the disturbance and the crime, Mr. Schoenwetter's Asperger's explained his conduct. (Amicus Brief at 17-18). Mr. Schoenwetter's "whole course of conduct is consistent with a focused obsession on finding someone to have sex with, with inappropriate 'problem solving,' with poor impulse control, and with an inability to select appropriate options or to empathize with others." (Amicus at 18; citation omitted).

The Amicus Brief argued that the trial court improperly gave little weight to the statutory mitigating factor that Mr. Schoenwetter "was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform to the requirements of law." (Amicus at 18; *citing* Vol. III R. 360-61). The Amicus Brief pointed out that like the age mitigating factor, which the court essentially used as an aggravating factor. (Amicus at 18). The trial court found that Mr. Schoenwetter's lack of criminal record was evidence that he could conform his conduct when he wanted. (Amicus at 18; citing Vol. III R. 361). "In giving this

mitigator little weight, the court disregarded that Schoenwetter's organic brain deficiency is characterized by frontal lobe dysfunction that directly affects the 'executive functions' of the brain." (Amicus at 18).

The Amicus Brief concluded that Mr. Schoenwetter's capital sentence should not be upheld. The Amicus Brief made clear, that in this case, the sentencing court "disregarded substantial, uncontroverted mitigating evidence of Schoenwetter's mental deficiencies, and its conclusions about the weight to be given to proven mitigators [were] not supported by the record." (Amicus at 18). Finally, the Amicus Brief argued that under this Court's proportionality review, Mr. Schoenwetter's death sentence should not stand. (Amicus at 18-19).

Evidentiary Hearing

Following the case management conference, the lower court set an evidentiary hearing on a Claim IV and denied Mr. Schoenwetter the right to be heard on his remaining claims. The evidentiary hearing was held between May 12, 2008 and May 14, 2008. A summary of the evidence put forth by Mr. Schoenwetter is as follows:

Dr. Henry Dee

The first witness that Mr. Schoenwetter called was Dr. Henry Dee (Vol. III PCR. 241). Dr. Dee is a practicing neuropsychologist from Lakeland, Florida. (Vol. III PCR. 241).

Dr. Dee received his PhD in Neuropsychology in 1969. (Vol. III PCR. 241). After receiving his Ph.D., Dr. Dee was a resident in the area of clinical Neuropsychology in the Departments of Neurology and Neurosurgery at the University of Iowa. (Vol. III PCR. 242).

In 1973, Dr. Dee started a private practice. Dr. Dee's practice consists of approximately 50 to 60 percent neuropsychology. (Vol. III PCR. 242). He also conducts evaluations for various state and federal agencies and serves as the supervising psychologist for the Child Protection Team in a *pro bono* capacity. (Vol. III PCR. 243).

Dr. Dee explained the difference between neuropsychology and psychology in general:

Neuropsychology is that discipline in psychology which relates behavior to the intactness of the human brain. We've constructed and employ many different scientifically constructed empirical tests for brain functioning, or I should say cognitive functioning, which is based on brain function.

(Vol. III PCR. 244).

Dr. Dee had been accepted numerous times as an expert in the State of Florida and in federal court. (Vol. III PCR. 245). The postconviction court received Dr. Dee as an expert in forensic psychology and neuropsychology. (Vol. III PCR. 245).

Dr. Dee indicated that in this case he reviewed a number of documents, some of which were significant, and some of which

were not. (Vol. III PCR. 253). The entirety of the records given to Dr. Dee were admitted into evidence as Defense Exhibit 1.(Vol. III PCR. 252).

Dr. Dee informed the court of the specific tests and results. The first test he discussed was the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, third edition. (Vol. III PCR. 259). Mr. Schoenwetter received a 124 the verbal scale and a on performance scale of 117. Mr. Schoenwetter's full scale intelligence quotient was 123. (Vol. III PCR. 262). Dr. Dee found that there was not a significant difference between his Wechsler and those of findings from the Dr. Krop (a neuropsychologist hired by the defense to conduct testing). (Vol. III PCR. 264). Dr. Dee explained that over time there can be some apparent improvement due to familiarity with the test.

Dr. Dee also used the Denman Neuropsychology Scale. (Vol. III PCR. 264). This is a companion battery of tests given precisely to compare its results with the results of the Wechsler. (Vol. III PCR. 264). The Denman is used to compare memory function to general mental functioning. (Vol. III PCR. 264). Mr. Schoenwetter's test yielded a full scale memory quotient of 112. Dr. Dee compared the full scale memory quotient from the Denman with the Denman's full scale memory. (Vol. III PCR. 265). Dr. Dee found a difference of 11 points, which indicated impairment of general functioning compared to

general cognitive functioning. (Vol. III PCR. 265).

explained that the difference Dr. Dee between Mr. Schoenwetter's Denman scores, "to put it very simply," was indicative of brain damage. (Vol. III PCR. 266). Dr. Dee gave Mr. Schoenwetter two tests of frontal lobe functioning, one of which, the categories test, Mr. Schoenwetter failed. (Vol. III PCR. 267). On the categories test Mr. Schoenwetter made seventy errors. (Vol. III PCR. 267). Dr. Dee explained that no intact individual has ever scored more than fifty errors on the categories test. (Vol. III PCR. 267). With seventy errors, Dr. Dee concluded that Mr. Schoenwetter had frontal lobe damage. (Vol. III PCR. 267).

Dr. Dee's findings were consistent with what Dr. Wu previously found through a PET scan of Mr. Schoenwetter's brain. Dr. Dee recalled that Dr. Wu found that "there was orbital frontal hypo-activity, that is the area right behind the eyes, and there was impairment in metabolic activity in the temporal cortex, but he added to that temporal insular, which means that's a structure that is inferior to the temporal lobe, in the sense that it's inside." (Vol. III PCR. 267). By inferior, Dr. Dee did not mean inferior in quality. (Vol. III PCR. 268).

Dr. Dee testified that he and Dr. Wu found abnormality in the temporal lobes, Dr. Dee through neuropsychological testing, and Dr. Wu through the PET scan. Dr. Dee, because of the

classification for injuries to the brain is imprecise, diagnosed Mr. Schoenwetter with "something like chronic brain syndrome with mixed features." (Vol. III PCR. 269). Dr. Dee found that Mr. Schoenwetter's memory and frontal lobe functioning was impaired. (Vol. III PCR. 269).

Dr. Dee explained the significance of frontal lobe damage relevant to the criminal conduct at issue. (Vol. III PCR. 269). The major effect of frontal impairment has been studied for over 150 years. (Vol. III PCR. 269). As Dr. Dee informed:

The research is quite consistent in indicating that these unfortunate individuals have greatly impaired inhibitory controls. They do and say things that they may regret immediately after they do them, but they seem to be able to - - unable to control them at the time, whatever the temptation or stimulus is.

In addition, they don't seem to learn from experience in these situations. They keep repeating the same sorts of errors again and again.

They fail to understand the impact they have on other people or the impact that their behavior has on other people . . . They don't seem to be able to change that.

(Vol. III PCR. 270).

While individuals like Mr. Schoenwetter may still have free will, their "inhibitory controls are much weaker...and they don't seem to learn from experience." (Vol. III PCR. 271). For such individuals their ability control their impulses are "[m]uch harder." (Vol. III PCR. 271).

Dr. Dee did not have any disagreement with the diagnosis of

Attention Deficit Disorder which the defense experts presented at trial and which Mr. Schoenwetter still shows clear behavioral evidence today. (Vol. III PCR. 271). Dr. Dee found that this was consistent with the impulsivity Dr. Dee just discussed. (Vol. III PCR. 271-72). Moreover, it was not inconsistent with Asperger's Syndrome because there is no good way to discriminate between the inhibitory control problems present with both Asperger's Syndrome and those which result from frontal lobe damage. (Vol. III PCR. 272).

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