IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-2271

RANDY SCHOENWETTER

Appellant,

 \mathbf{v}_{ullet}

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

relationship with the Defendant and that her family and extended family would have been there for him over the years. She testified that she was contacted by someone from the public defender's office by telephone. She testified that she told him that if her family was allowed contact with the Defendant he would not be in trouble. She testified that she could have told the person from the public defender's office how to contact Ingram if he had asked. Conner testified that she would have been willing to testify for the Defendant at the penalty phase. (See Exhibit "J", Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pgs. 384-397).

Moore testified at the evidentiary hearing that he and the investigator from his office tried to locate Reece Ingram and could not. He testified that he sent numerous letters to the -paternal side of the family, including the paternal grandmother, but the family members would not help. He testified that they eventually hired Laura Blankman, a mitigation specialist, to try to locate Ingram but she was also unable to locate him. (See Exhibit "J", Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pgs. 134-136, 155-157).

The defense attorneys did not render ineffective assistance when they failed to call Reece Ingram as a witness. Moore testified that he, an investigator from his office, and Laura Blankman all tried to locate Ingram and were unable to do so. Clearly, the defense made a strong effort to locate Ingram.

Furthermore, the Defendant was not prejudiced by his attorneys' failure to call Reece Ingram and Nettie Conner as witnesses. The only additional information that these witnesses would have provided was that Deborah Roberts, the Defendant's mother, prevented the Defendant from having any contact with his biological father or his paternal family members. However, it is questionable whether the Defendant would have been better of having a relationship with Ingram considering that the evidence showed that Ingram physically abused the Defendant's mother while she was pregnant with him and then went to prison for aggravated assault and burglary. Had this testimony been presented at the penalty phase, it is unlikely that the jury would have given it much weight. This evidence would not have been enough to overcome the overwhelming aggravation

in this case as described in the Judgment and Sentence Order. (See Exhibit "D", Judgment and Sentence Order).

The Defendant next claims under Claim IV(,D) that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorneys failed to call Laura Blankman as a witness. In 2003, Laura Blankman was in private practice investigating mitigation for death penalty cases. Blankman testified at the evidentiary hearing that on August 27 or 28, 2003, Moore called her and asked her to talk to the Defendant and his family and try to get more mitigation evidence. He stated that he could only get funding to pay her for about 30 hours of work. Blankman testified that she interviewed the Defendant and his mother as well as other family members. She testified that Roberts told her that she was physically abused by her father throughout her childhood. Roberts also told her that she and the Defendant lived with her father when the Defendant was one to four years old and that the Defendant witnessed his grandfather physically abusing his mother. Blankman testified that she believed that this abuse needed to be looked into further; however, they ran out of time. She testified that she told Moore and McCarthy about this abuse. She testified that she did not have enough time to investigate the paternal side of the family, but she believed that Reece Ingram and his family needed to be further examined. She testified that Roberts told her of prenatal problems. She stated that she was abused by Ingram during her pregnancy, she did not have much prenatal care, she was malnourished during her pregnancy, and she had a difficult delivery. Blankman testified that she learned that the Defendant had an unstable childhood. They would move frequently and they were very poor. (See Exhibit "J", Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pgs. 248-267).

Although the Defendant claims in his motion that Blankman should have testified at the penalty phase, it appears from Blankman's testimony at the evidentiary hearing that he was actually claiming that evidence should have been presented at the penalty phase of the additional mitigation that Blankman discovered through her investigation. However, evidence was presented during the penalty phase of much of the mitigation that Blankman testified to at the evidentiary hearing. Roberts testified that she was abused by the Defendant's biological

father during her pregnancy, that she did not receive much prenatal care, and that she was malnourished during her pregnancy. (See Exhibit "I", Penalty Phase Transcript, pgs. 1057-1061). Roberts also testified about the Defendant's unstable childhood, stating that she divorced his father when he was a year old, moved in with her parents, married Thomas Schoenwetter who adopted the Defendant and then divorced him, moved to Port St. Richie to live with a boyfriend she met online, and then moved back to Titusville a year later. (See Exhibit "I", Penalty Phase Transcript, pgs. 1057-1076). In essence, Blankman has little or nothing to offer except to describe her attempts to locate individuals and state who she spoke with regarding the Defendant.

Roberts did not testify at the penalty phase that she was physically abused by her father and that the Defendant witnessed some of this abuse. However, the Defendant was not prejudiced by the fact that this testimony was not presented. While this testimony may have provided some mitigation, it would not have been enough to overcome the overwhelming aggravating circumstances in this case as described in the Judgment and Sentence Order. (See Exhibit "D", Judgment and Sentence Order).

Although not specifically alleged in the Defendant's motion, Blankman testified at the evidentiary hearing that more time should have been spent investigating mitigation in this case and that there were issues that were not completely explored. However, the defense did not present evidence at the evidentiary hearing to show that had these issues been explored further demonstrated that he was prejudiced in this regard. The Court finds that the Defendant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel by his attorneys' failure to call Laura Blankman as a witness, failure to present all of the evidence discovered by Blankman at the penalty phase, and failure to conduct additional mitigation investigation.

The Defendant next claims under Count IV(D) that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorneys failed to call an expert to integrate all of the evidence that was presented regarding the Defendant's social background, including the Defendant's religious transformation, with the medical testimony that was presented. The

defense presented the testimony of Dr. Henry L. Dee, Neuropsychologist, at the evidentiary hearing. He testified that he gave the Defendant an IQ test and that the Defendant scored 123. He also tested the Defendant's memory functioning and the Defendant scored 112. Dr. Dee testified that the difference of eleven points indicates brain damage. He also testified that the Defendant failed a frontal lobe functioning test which indicates that the Defendant has some damage to his frontal lobe. Based upon these tests, Dr. Dee testified that the Defendant's memory functioning and frontal lobe functioning were impaired. Dr. Dee described how frontal lobe injury impairs a person's inhibitory controls. He testified that the results of the tests he conducted and his observations of the Defendant were consistent with the evidence presented during the penalty phase that the Defendant had Asperger's Syndrome and ADHD. Dr. Dee testified that-he spoke with the Defendant and his relatives to obtain a social history of the Defendant. He learned that the Defendant had moved ten times during his childhood. Dr. Dee testified that moving is probably the second most depressing event in a person's life because the person loses everyone in their life all at once. He testified that moving often would be even more difficult for a child with Asperger's Syndrome. Dr. Dee testified that had the Defendant had a more stable life, he more likely would have been able to make friends and develop social skills. Dr. Dee testified -that people with the Defendant's conditions have difficulty expressing remorse. Yet, he testified that the Defendant expressed remorse in letters written after his religious conversion. Dr. Dee testified that in his opinion, the Defendant met the criteria for three mitigating factors: that the Defendant was under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, that the Defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired, and the Defendant's age at the time of the offense. (See Exhibit "J", Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pgs. 32-63).

The Defendant was not prejudiced by his attorneys' failure to call Dr. Dee as a witness at the penalty phase. For the most part, Dr. Dee's testimony was the same as the testimony that was presented at the penalty phase. Dr. Riebsame testified that his testing indicated that the Defendant had some type of brain injury or an abnormal brain. (See

Exhibit "I", Penalty Phase Transcript, pg. 732). He also diagnosed the Defendant as having Asperger's Syndrome and ADHD and described the effect that each had on the Defendant. (See Exhibit "I", Penalty Phase Transcript, pgs. 737-753). Dr. Pritchard also testified that the Defendant had Asperger's Syndrome and ADHD and described how these conditions affected the Defendant's actions on the night of the crimes. (See Exhibit "I", Penalty Phase Transcript, pgs. 844-855).

Dr. Wu testified that the Defendant's PET scan indicated that the Defendant's frontal lobe area and the areas of the temporal cortex were abnormal. He testified that this is consistent with someone who has Asperger's Syndrome. Dr. Wu's testimony regarding how having an abnormal frontal lobe would have affected the Defendant on the night of the crimes was similar.

Dr. Dee did add the testimony regarding how the frequent moves affected the Defendant. However, the Defendant was not prejudiced by the absence of this testimony from the penalty phase. The jury did hear about the Defendant's Asperger's Syndrome and about how it affected the Defendant's decision making process while he was committing the crimes. Yet, both the jury and the Court found that this mitigation was not enough to overcome the overwhelming aggravating circumstances in this case. The Court found that the Defendant's psychological disorders did not explain his conduct because the Defendant made a series of conscious decisions which led him to commit his crimes and then to attempt to cover them up. (See Exhibit "D", Judgment and Sentence Order). Evidence that the Defendant moved often as a child and that these moves would have been more difficult for a child with Asperger's Syndrome

than it would be for a child without Asperger's Syndrome would not have been enough to overcome the aggravation in this case.

The Defendant claims under Claim IV(E) that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorneys presented the testimony of two conflicting expert witnesses. The Defendant claims that Dr. Riebsame and Dr. Pritchard contradicted each other when Dr. Riebsame found that the Defendant was under the influence of an extreme mental or

emotional disturbance and Dr. Pritchard testified that the Defendant's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conductor to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Each expert found that a separate statutory mitigator existed; they were not contradictory as claimed by the Defendant.

During the evidentiary hearing, Moore testified that generally there is some variation in between experts who testify in a case. He testified that he and McCarthy discussed the variations in Dr. Riebsame and Dr. Pritchard's testimony and decided that it was best to call both witnesses. They decided that by calling both witnesses they could present two statutory mitigators to the jury instead of just one. (See Exhibit "J", Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pgs. 148-149). The Court finds that Moore and -McCarthy made a strategic decision to present the testimony of both Dr. Riebsame and Dr. Pritchard despite the variations in their testimony. Moore and McCarthy considered different courses of action and decided that presenting the testimony of both expert witnesses would be the best course of action for their client. The Court finds that it was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct to decide to present evidence of two statutory mitigations instead of one despite perceived conflicts in the testimony.

(R1257-1273).

These findings are supported by competent substantial evidence and the trial judge attached every record section supporting his Order. Trial counsel made a strategic decision to present expert testimony that Schoenwetter had a fixation with pornography as a result of Asperger's Syndrome. Trial counsel made a strategic decision not to object to the prosecutor's comment regarding the Friskey sisters because that fact was coming into evidence. Counsel did not fail to present relevant mitigation regarding Schoenwetter's background, and any additional testimony

presented at the evidentiary hearing was either cumulative or unavailable at the time of trial. Counsel made a strategic decision not to present the testimony regarding Schoenwetter's religious conversion because it negated remorse. Counsel also made a strategic decision to call two experts since each one would establish one statutory mental mitigating circumstance. Schoenwetter established neither deficient performance nor prejudice.

ARGUMENT IV

ROPER V. SIMMONS 543 U.S. 551 (2005) DOES NOT PRECLUDE THE DEATH SENTENCE FOR A PERSON WITH A CHRONOLOGICAL AGE OF 18; THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

This issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise the issue on direct appeal. See Miller v. State, 926 So. 2d 1243, 1260 (Fla. 2006) ("[A] claim that could and should have been raised on direct appeal is procedurally barred.") Further the issue has no merit. Schoenwetter claims that, pursuant to Roper v. Simmons, it is unconstitutional to execute a defendant who might have the mental functioning of a person under 18 years of age. This Court has consistently held that *Roper* only prohibits the execution of defendants "whose chronological age is below eighteen" at the time of the capital crime. Reese v. State, 34 Fla. L. Weekly S296 (Fla. July 2, 2009); Evans v. State 995 So. 2d 933, 954 (Fla. 2008); Morton v. State, 995 So. 2d 233, 245 (Fla. 2008); Farina v. State, 937 So. 2d 612, 626 n. 7 (Fla. 2006); Kearse v. State, 969 So. 2d 976, 992 (Fla. 2007): (denying Roper claim where defendant was eighteen years and three months old at the time of the crime and had mental and emotional impairments); Stephens v. State, 975 So. 2d 405, 427 (Fla. 2007); Hill v. State, 921 So. 2d 579, 584 (Fla. 2006), cert. denied, 546 U.S. 1219, 126 S.Ct. 1441, 164 L.Ed.2d 141 (2006).

The trial judge held:

The Defendant claims under Claim V that his sentence of death is unconstitutional under *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). The Defendant's claim could have been raised on direct appeal and therefore, is not cognizable under Rule 3.850. *Owen v. State*, 986 So. 2d 534, 543 (Fla. 2008). Furthermore, the Defendant's claim lacks merit. In *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551(2005), the Court held that it is unconstitutional to impose the death penalty upon a person who is under 18 years of age. The Defendant was 18 years of age when he committed his crimes. The Defendant argues that since testimony was presented that he had an emotional age of 11 or 12, *Roper* applies to him. However, the Supreme Court of Florida has held that *Roper* only prohibits the execution of defendants who had a chronological age under 18 at the time they committed their crimes. *Stephens v. State*, 975 So. 2d 405, 427 (Fla. 2007); *Hill v. State*, 921 So.2d 579, 584 (Fla. 2006). Therefore, the Defendant's death sentence is not unconstitutional due to his age.

(R1275-76). The trial court findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence.

This issue was not raised on direct appeal, and Schoenwetter was 18 years of age when he committed the murders.

ARGUMENT V

THERE IS NEITHER INDIVIDUAL NOR CUMULATIVE ERROR.

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